THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2014-001514

RECEIVED

MAR 16 2015

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

Docket No. 2013-392-E

In The Matter of Joint Application of Duke Energy Carolinas, LLC and North Carolina Electric Membership Corporation for a Certificate of Environmental Compatibility and Public Convenience and Necessity for the Construction and Operation of a 750MW Combined Generating Plant Near Anderson, SC

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS
SOUTH CAROLINA COASTAL CONSERVATION LEAGUE AND
SOUTHERN ALLIANCE FOR CLEAN ENERGY

J. Blanding Holman IV
Christopher K. DeScherer
Southern Environmental Law Center

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the Public Service Commission of South Carolina (“Commission”) erred by failing to consider or require a solar component when issuing a Certificate of Environmental Compatibility and Public Convenience and Necessity for a proposed natural gas combined cycle power plant?
2. Whether the Commission erred in finding that the gas plant’s environmental impact was justified, considering the state of available technology and the nature and economics of the various alternatives to reduce impacts and save ratepayers money?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter comes before the Court on appeal from a decision by the Public Service Commission of South Carolina (the “Commission”) to grant a Certificate of Environmental Compatibility and Public Convenience and Necessity (“Certificate”) to Duke Energy Carolinas, LLC (“DEC”) and the North Carolina Electric Membership Corporation (“NCEMC”) for the construction and operation of a 750 megawatt (“MW”) combined cycle natural gas-fired generating facility at DEC’s existing Lee Steam Station near Anderson, South Carolina (the “Lee Gas Plant”).

On October 24, 2013, DEC and NCEMC filed a joint Application for a Certificate under the Utility Facility Siting and Environmental Protection Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 58-33-10, *et seq.* The application included a certification that DEC had served a copy of the application on those governmental officials and such other persons as S.C. Code Ann. § 58-33-120(2) requires.

By letter dated November 1, 2013, the Clerk’s Office of the Commission required DEC to publish a prepared Notice of Filing and Hearing which described the nature of the Application and advised all interested parties of the manner in which they might intervene or otherwise participate in the proceeding. DEC submitted an affidavit which demonstrated compliance with the Clerk’s instructions. Statutory parties were the South Carolina Office of Regulatory Staff (“ORS”), the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control (“DHEC”), the South Carolina Department of Natural Resources (“DNR”) and the South Carolina Department of Parks, Recreation, and Tourism (the “Department”). Petitions to intervene were filed by the South Carolina Coastal Conservation League (“CCL”) and Southern Alliance for Clean Energy (“SACE”); Invenergy Thermal Development, LLC (“Invenergy”); and the Electric

Cooperatives of South Carolina, Inc. and Central Electric Power Cooperative, Inc. (the “Co-ops”). The Co-ops filed a request to withdraw their petition to intervene, which was granted by the Commission on December 18, 2013. Also on December 18, 2013, the Commission denied Invenergy’s petition to intervene upon objection by DEC and NCEMC. On January 2, 2014, Invenergy renewed its petition to intervene. A Settlement Agreement between DEC, NCEMC and ORS was filed on January 3, 2014.

On January 7, 2014, in accordance with Section 58-33-130 of the Siting Act and with the Commission’s Rules of Practice and Procedure, the Commission commenced an evidentiary hearing on the Certificate application. On the oral motion of DEC, NCEMC and ORS, the Commission moved those parties’ Settlement Agreement into the record. The Commission also denied Invenergy’s renewed petition to intervene. The Commission then recessed the hearing.

The Commission reconvened the evidentiary hearing on February 4, 2014. DEC presented the testimony of Clark S. Gillespy, Janice D. Hager and Mark E. Landseidel. NCEMC presented the testimony of Michael W. Burnette, which was stipulated into the record. CCL and SACE presented the joint testimony of T. Hamilton Davis IV and John D. Wilson. ORS presented the testimony of Gene G. Soult. DHEC, DNR and the Department did not participate in the hearing.

On May 2, 2014, the Commission issued its Order Granting a Certificate of Environmental Compatibility and Public Convenience and Necessity to DEC and NCEMC for the Lee Gas Plant. Appellants filed a petition for rehearing on May 15, 2014. On June 4, 2014, the Commission voted to deny Appellants’ petition and issued a written directive to that effect. Appellants filed a Notice of Appeal on July 3, 2014. The

Commission issued an Order Denying Petition for Rehearing and Reconsideration on July 30, 2014.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The proposed Lee Gas Plant is a 750 MW natural gas-fired combined cycle electrical generating plant to be constructed at the site of DEC's existing Lee Steam Station in Anderson County, South Carolina. (Order No. 2014-408, p. 1; R. p. 004.) DEC is a limited liability company, organized under the laws of the State of North Carolina, which supplies retail electric service to approximately 2.4 million customers in its service area, including approximately 540,000 customers in South Carolina. NCEMC is a generation and transmission cooperative, a not-for-profit membership corporation under North Carolina, whose membership cooperatives use power supplied by NCEMC to provide retail electric service to their customers. (Order No. 2014-408, p. 6; R. p. 009.)

DEC declined to disclose publicly an estimated construction cost for the proposed Lee Gas Plant, which was filed under seal. (Tr. Vol. 2, p. 98, lines 23-24; R. p. 217, lines 23-24.) The construction cost of a similar combined cycle project recently completed at DEC's Dan River plant, however, was approximately \$673 million. (Tr. Vol. 2, p. 167, line 21-p. 168, line 3; R. p. 286, line 21-p. 287, line 3.) The Lee Gas Plant is only the first of four to five natural gas combined-cycle ("NGCC") plants that DEC and fellow Duke Energy subsidiary Duke Energy Progress plan to construct over the next decade. (Tr. Vol. 2, p. 193, lines 1-4; R. p. 312, lines 1-4.) Together, construction of these plants will cost ratepayers billions of dollars.

Although expensive to build, NGCC plants are even more expensive to run. Operating costs, mainly the natural gas burned as fuel, would constitute 80-90 percent of

the Lee Gas Plant's long-term cost to ratepayers. (Tr. Vol. 2, p. 197, lines 7-9; R. p. 316, lines 7-9.) Approximately 30 percent of the operating costs of DEC's share of the unit will be allocated to South Carolina ratepayers. (Tr. Vol. 2, p. 42, line 21-p. 43, line 3; R. p. 161, line 21-p. 162, line 3.) Natural gas prices, while currently lower than in the past, have historically been subject to significant price volatility, and are also subject to supply disruptions from natural disasters. (Tr. Vol. 2, p. 117, lines 11-16; R. p. 236, lines 11-16.) If natural gas prices increase, South Carolina customers will pay more for electricity produced by the plant. (Tr. Vol. 2, p. 117, line 25-p. 118, line 4; R. p. 236, line 25-p. 237, line 4.)

The Siemens F Class technology proposed for the Lee Gas Plant has demonstrated operational flexibility including multiple starts, minimum load capability and minimum start times. (Tr. Vol. 2, p. 154, lines 1-3; R. p. 273, lines 1-3.) The technology and configuration selected by DEC provide significant capability to ramp the plant up and down quickly, as well as come to relatively low minimum loads. (Tr. Vol. 2, p. 163, lines 19-23; R. p. 282, lines 19-23.) DEC witness Landseidel testified that "the intermediate capability of the plant allows it to fluctuate as needed to meet the system needs," which could vary for reasons "including intermittent power sources," such as solar. (Tr. Vol. 2, p. 166, lines 5-8; R. p. 285, lines 5-8.) Mr. Landseidel testified that operating at lower output would not decrease the facility's useful life, since the plant is designed with the capability for cycling and operation at minimum loads, (Tr. Vol. 2, p. 165, lines 7-13; R. p. 284, lines 7-13).

Given the ability of a combined cycle plant to operate efficiently at variable levels, natural gas combined-cycle technology pairs well with solar generation, a

dependable and fuel-free but variable power source. To reduce the environmental impacts and offset the operating costs of the Lee Gas Plant, Appellants recommended that the Certificate for the project be conditioned on a requirement that DEC issue a request for proposals (“RFP”) for cost-effective solar power. The RFP would be developed as follows. First, DEC would develop a benchmark price using the 30-year forecast of the variable costs for the Lee Gas Plant (mainly, natural gas). This is the price at which customers would be indifferent to whether the electricity was generated by the Lee Gas Plant or a solar facility (or facilities). (Tr. Vol. 2, p. 199, lines 5-7; R. p. 318, lines 5-7.) Second, DEC would issue an RFP for up to 375 MW of firm solar power at the benchmark price. (Tr. Vol. 2, p. 203, lines 6-9; R. p. 322, lines 6-9.) Bids would only be accepted if they came in below the benchmark price; i.e., by definition, at a price lower than the long-term cost of operating the Lee Gas Plant to produce the same amount of power. (Tr. Vol. 2, p. 180, lines 20-24; R. p. 299, lines 20-24.)

By its terms, the solar condition proposed by CCL and SACE would not add costs for ratepayers. Moreover, the solar component would provide a significant hedge against gas price upside volatility; it would, as Mr. Davis testified, “save ratepayers money if solar costs go down and gas prices go up.” (Tr. Vol. 2, p. 180, line 24-p. 181, line 1; R. p. 299, line 24-R. p. 300, line 1.) DEC witness Janice D. Hager agreed that instead of dispatching the natural gas plant, the Company could dispatch a type of generating facility that had lower fuel costs. (Tr. Vol. 2, p. 118, lines 9-12; R. p. 237, lines 9-12.) Solar, of course, has zero fuel costs. (Tr. Vol. 2, p. 118, lines 13-14; R. p. 237, lines 13-14.)

Solar's potential to offset part of the fuel costs of natural gas facilities and hedge against gas price increases has led to a growing trend of gas-solar pairings across the nation. Appellants submitted evidence regarding several solar projects that have been linked to natural gas generation, either co-located at the same site or as part of a resource portfolio. (Hrg. Ex. 7, Tr. Vol. 2, p. 221 [admitted]; R. pp. 340 [admitted], 617-19.) For example, Xcel Energy has proposed a wind/solar/gas proposal that would reduce operating costs by \$246 million. (Hrg. Ex. 7, Tr. Vol. 2, p. 221 [admitted]; R. p. 340 [admitted], 618.) Florida Power & Light ("FPL") has a hybrid facility in which a 75 MW solar thermal power plant is directly connected to a 1,142 MW combined-cycle natural gas power plant at FPL's Martin Plant. *Id.* FPL has explained the Martin hybrid facility is a "fuel-substitute facility" that "displaces the use of fossil fuel," and is "not a facility that provides additional capacity and energy." *Id.* Similarly, in a competitive bidding process overseen by the Minnesota Public Utilities Commission, the Administrative Law Judge found that "[Xcel Energy's] solar project has no associated fuel costs, and, therefore, provides for a fixed and certain price for the life of the project." *Id.* Finally, Louisville Gas and Electric Company and Kentucky Utilities Company recently submitted a joint application to the Kentucky Public Service Commission for certificates of public convenience and necessity for the construction of both a natural gas combined cycle facility and a solar photovoltaic facility, having concluded after a request for proposals process that the gas-solar combination was the "least-cost reasonable alternative for meeting customer needs." (Hrg. Ex. 7, Tr. Vol. 2, p. 221 [admitted]; R. p. 340 [admitted], 619.)

The proposed Lee Gas Plant, while less polluting than the coal units it would replace, would still emit air pollutants such as nitrogen oxides and carbon dioxide. (Tr. Vol. 2, p. 39, lines 1-4; R. p. 158, lines 1-4.) The plant would also consume an estimated 10 cubic feet per second of water from the Saluda River, which is a drinking water source. (Tr. Vol. 2, p. 159, lines 11-13; R. p. 278, lines 11-13.) At the evidentiary hearing, DEC witness Landseidel conceded that operating the unit at a lower output would reduce water use (Tr. Vol. 2, p. 166, lines 20-23; R. p. 285, lines 20-23), as well as emissions of air pollutants (Tr. Vol. 2, p. 167, lines 12-18; R. p. 286, lines 12-18).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

I. THE COMMISSION'S REVIEW OF THE CERTIFICATE APPLICATION.

The Utility Facility Siting and Environmental Protection Act ("Siting Act"), S.C. Code Ann. § 58-33-10, *et seq.*, governs the siting of electric utility facilities in South Carolina. The statute requires the Commission to render a decision upon the record either granting or denying the application for a Certificate as filed, or granting it upon such terms, conditions or modifications of the construction, operation or maintenance of the major utility facility as the Commission may deem appropriate. S.C. Code Ann. § 58-33-160.

The Commission may not grant a certificate for the construction, operation and maintenance of a major utility facility, either as proposed or as modified by the Commission, "unless it shall find and determine," among other things, "the nature of [the facility's] probable environmental impact," and that this impact "is justified, considering the state of available technology and the nature and economics of the various alternatives and other pertinent considerations." S.C. Code Ann. § 58-33-160(b), (c). The

Commission must also find that the facility “will serve the interests of system economy and reliability.” *Id.* § 58-33-160(d).

II. THIS COURT’S REVIEW OF THE COMMISSION’S DECISION.

Under the Siting Act, any party may appeal from all or any portion of any final order or decision of the Commission. S.C. Code Ann. § 58-33-310. Such appeal is in accordance with S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380, the statute governing judicial review of a final decision in a contested case. That section provides that the appellate court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the Commission as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. *Id.* § 1-23-380(5). The court may reverse or modify the decision if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

Id.

South Carolina appellate courts employ a deferential standard of review when reviewing a decision of the Commission, and will affirm that decision when substantial evidence supports it. *Porter v. S. Carolina Pub. Serv. Comm’n*, 333 S.C. 12, 20, 507 S.E.2d 328, 332 (1998). The party challenging a Commission decision bears the burden

of convincingly proving that the decision is clearly erroneous, or arbitrary or capricious, or an abuse of discretion, in view of the substantial evidence on the whole record. *Heater of Seabrook, Inc. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of South Carolina*, 324 S.C. 56, 60, 478 S.E.2d 826, 828 (1996).

“This deferential standard of review does not mean, however, that the Court will accept an administrative agency's decision at face value without requiring the agency to explain its reasoning. “*Porter v. S. Carolina Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 333 S.C. 12, 21, 507 S.E.2d 328, 332 (1998). “The findings of fact of an administrative body must be sufficiently detailed to enable the reviewing court to determine whether the findings are supported by the evidence and whether the law has been properly applied to those findings.” *Able Commc'ns, Inc. v. S. Carolina Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 290 S.C. 409, 411, 351 S.E.2d 151, 152 (1986). “Where material facts are in dispute, the administrative body must make specific, express findings of fact.” *Kiawah Prop. Owners Grp. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of S. Carolina*, 338 S.C. 92, 96, 525 S.E.2d 863, 865 (1999). Although no particular format is required, “a recital of conflicting testimony followed by a general conclusion is patently insufficient to enable a reviewing court to address the issues.” *Able Commc'ns, Inc. v. S. Carolina Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 290 S.C. 409, 411, 351 S.E.2d 151, 152 (1986).

ARGUMENT

Appellants respectfully submit that the Certificate was not granted in compliance with the Siting Act's requirement that the Commission only grant a certificate for a major utility facility, “as proposed or as modified by the Commission,” where it determines the facility's “probable environmental impact” is “justified” considering “available technology and the nature and economics of the various alternatives and other pertinent

considerations.” S.C. Code § 58-33-160(c). As described above, Appellants submitted evidence showing that a solar energy component would materially reduce the proposed gas facility’s environmental impact and cost to customers. The Commission failed to actually consider or make statutorily required findings in light of this evidence. The Commission’s rejection of Appellants’ solar recommendation springs from three central errors, as discussed in the following sections.

I. BECAUSE THE COMMISSION FUNDAMENTALLY MISAPPREHENDED APPELLANTS’ SOLAR RECOMMENDATION, ITS DECISION TO REJECT THAT RECOMMENDATION WAS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS.

First, the Commission misapprehended Appellants’ solar recommendation itself, in several respects, and inaccurately characterized the proposal in its orders. Because the Commission fundamentally misunderstood Appellants’ solar recommendation, it did not carry out its duty to determine that the gas facility’s impact “is justified, considering the state of available technology and the nature and economics of the various alternatives and other pertinent considerations.” S.C. Code Ann. § 58-33-160(b), (c).

The Commission apparently understood Appellants to recommend that the Commission issue a Certificate for *less natural gas generating capacity* than that proposed by the applicants, and rejected that recommendation because “the [Lee Gas Plant] could not be built with lower than the Company-needed 650 MWs” (Order No. 2014-408, p. 13; R. p. 016). In addition, the Commission reasoned that “solar will not be capable of providing the intermediate to base load needs of the Lee Facility.” (Order No. 2014-546, p. 4; R. p. 031.) Appellants did not propose that a certificate be issued for less than 650 MW, however, or suggest that their proposed solar component proposal would suffice to meet DEC’s capacity need. Instead, they recommended that

DEC procure cost-effective solar generation that would offset the operating costs of the gas plant by reducing the amount of fuel burned. By way of illustration, if DEC obtained 300 MW of solar, on a sunny day it could use solar energy to displace the amount of energy that the natural gas plant would have to produce by burning natural gas. Because the RFP would guarantee that energy from solar generation would be no more expensive (if not less expensive) than the cost of energy from the Lee Gas Plant, this hybrid arrangement would present only benefits to ratepayers.

The Commission's conception of the solar component as adding capacity—i.e., that “any MWs generated from solar would be in addition to the 650 MW capacity requirements” (Order No. 2014-546, p. 3; R. p. 030)—and its view that Appellants merely sought to force construction of electrical generation capacity above and beyond the Lee Gas Plant's capacity (Order No. 2014-408, p. 13; R. p. 016), was thus error. Appellants presented evidence that requiring Duke to issue a RFP for solar power that, as delivered, would displace production at the Lee Gas Plant (megawatt hours, or MWh) and reduce fuel burned there. Much as the electrical component of a hybrid car operates in tandem with the gas motor, the solar component would complement gas production, not be in addition to it.

The Commission's misconception also led it to claim—with no evidentiary basis—that because “capital investment would be needed to build the solar facility,” the proposal “could ultimately result in customers paying more than necessary for electric service.” (Order No. 2014-408, p. 13; R. p. 016.) Again, these statements reflect a disregard for the key criterion in Appellants' recommendation: that DEC would only accept solar bids at a benchmark price at or below the operating costs of the gas unit, so

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