THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

MAR 16 2015

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM
THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION OF SOUTH CAROLINA

Docket No. 2013-392-E
Appellate Case No. 2014-001514

In The Matter of Joint Application of Duke Energy Carolinas, LLC and North Carolina Electric Membership Corporation for a Certificate of Environmental Compatibility and Public Convenience and Necessity for the Construction and Operation of a 750 MW Combined Generating Plant Near Anderson, SC

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
SOUTH CAROLINA OFFICE OF REGULATORY STAFF

Shannon Bowyer Hudson, Esquire
Jeffrey M. Nelson, Esquire
Florence P. Belser, Esquire
Nanette S. Edwards, Esquire

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

ARGUMENT

I. THE COMMISSION DID NOT ERR IN ITS DECISION APPLYING THE SITING ACT AND ITS DECISION IS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE.

Appellants argue the Commission (a) misunderstood and misapplied Appellants’ position; (b) did not appropriately consider the environmental impact; and (c) erroneously concluded that it could not alter the Application. (Brief p. 10-17.) (R. p.97-101.)

A. The Commission did not misunderstand or misapply Appellants’ position

Appellants assert their position has been misunderstood and misapplied. (Brief p. 10-12.) (R. p. 97-101.) ORS disagrees. The position asserted in Appellants’ Petition for Reconsideration before the Commission and in Appellants’ Brief before this Court has been modified from the position presented during the hearing.

In pre-filed testimony, Appellants recommended the Commission direct Duke Energy to solicit developer interest in a 375 MW solar facility located at or near the Lee

Unit site at a cost consistent with the cost to operate the Lee Unit. (R. p. 305, lines 19-21.) The above recommendation was repeated in Appellant's written direct testimony as, "We recommend that the Commission, as a condition of any certification of the proposed Lee NGCC Unit, require the Company to develop or procure, through an RFP process initiated in 2014, an additional 375 MW of solar capacity at or near the Lee site.... [W]e further recommend that the Commission require that the best proposals that meet Duke Energy's minimum terms be accepted up to 375 MW of solar capacity." (R. p. 322, lines 6-12.) At the hearing, Appellants testified that the solar capacity was not anticipated to be a capacity increase, but complementary capacity which could be used to offset the costs of operating the Lee Unit. (R. p. 324, lines 10-14.)

When reviewing Appellants' testimony as a whole, ORS understood Appellants' recommendation as one causing an additional 375 MW above and beyond the 750 MW Lee Unit. The recommended solar facility and its capacity, whether complementary or not, is additional capacity. Although ORS supported the certificate for the 750 MW Lee Unit, ORS was unwilling to support additional unneeded capacity. The Commission declined Appellants 375 MW solar recommendation setting forth the following reasons:

- Applicants demonstrated a need for a specified level of capacity in conjunction with energy production (also known as generation).¹ (R. p. 15-16.)

¹ The U.S. Energy Information Administration defines "capacity" and "generation" as follows: "Capacity" is the maximum electric output a generator can produce under specific conditions. Nameplate capacity is determined by the generator's manufacturer and indicates the maximum output a generator can produce without exceeding design thermal limits. "Generation" is the amount of electricity a generator produces over a specific period of time. For example, a generator with 1 megawatt ("mW") capacity that operates at that capacity consistently for one hour will produce 1 megawatt-hour ("mWh") of electricity. If it operates at only half that capacity for one hour, it will produce 0.5 mWh of electricity. Many generators do not operate at their full capacity all the time; they may

- A need was shown for the full 750 MWs that would be produced by the Lee Unit to meet base or intermediate load requirements at an expected capacity factor² between 50% to 75% for a period of 20 to 30 years.³ *Id.*
- Solar energy has a much lower operating capacity factor due to its limited availability and reliability, making it not an optimal resource for base or intermediate load. *Id.* Any MWs generated from solar would be in addition to the Applicant-needed capacity requirements and capital investment would be needed to build a solar facility. (R. p. 16.)
- Based upon Duke Energy's Integrated Resource Plan which shows future planning for electricity needs, the additional 375 MW of solar capacity sought by the Appellants is not needed at this time. *Id.*

vary their output according to conditions at the power plant, fuel costs, and/or as instructed from the electric power grid operator.

<http://www.eia.gov/tools/faqs/faq.cfm?id=101&t=3>

² The U.S. Energy Information Administration defines "capacity factor" as a measure of how often an electric generator runs for a specific period of time. It indicates how much electricity a generator actually produces relative to the maximum it could produce at continuous full power operation during the same period. For example, if a one megawatt generator produced 5,000 megawatthours the entire year, its capacity factor would be 0.57 or 57% (5,000 megawatthours / 8,760 megawatthours at full capacity for the entire year) of the total amount of electricity the generator could have produced if it operated at full capacity the entire year. Generators with relatively low fuel costs are usually operated to supply base load power and typically have average annual capacity factors of 0.70 or more. Conversely, generators with lower capacity factors might indicate average operation during peak demand periods and/or high fuel costs, or operation based on the availability of a variable energy source, such as hydro, solar, and wind energy.

<http://www.eia.gov/tools/faqs/faq.cfm?id=187&t=3>

³ Applicant witness Hager testified:

As CCL and SACE witnesses note, the largest solar facility in the world is under construction in Arizona and will provide 290 MWs of capacity. It is unclear why CCL and SACE believe the Anderson, South Carolina, area is a likely spot for an even larger facility. In addition, a 375 MW solar facility would be a poor substitute for the Lee CC Project. It would only provide approximately 150 MWs of summer peak equivalent capacity compared to the 750 MW Lee Project and can only provide about 10% of the energy that the Lee Project is capable of providing. . . . The 375 MW facility proposed by CCL and SACE would require approximately 2,625 acres of land. By contrast the footprint of the 750 MW Lee CC Project is estimated to be approximately 20 acres. (R. p. 207, lines 9-21.)

- It is not good practice to grant permission to build or secure more capacity than is needed as this could ultimately result in customers paying more than necessary for electric service. *Id.*
- Duke Energy could voluntarily submit an RFP to consider solar generation without the Commission requiring it to do so. (R. p. 17.)

The Commission's reasoning in Order No. 2014-408 shows that it had the same understanding of Appellants' recommendation as ORS.

After Commission Order No. 2014-408 was issued denying Appellants' recommendation, Appellants petitioned the Commission for a rehearing with the premise, among other things, that the Commission misapprehended the nature and intent of the solar recommendation, and because of the misunderstanding, the Commission's order is unsupported by substantial evidence. (R. p. 99.) In its Petition for Rehearing, the Appellants state that the 375 MW solar RFP is not to be above and beyond the 750 MW, but instead the proposal is for solar to offset plant operating costs, when cost-effective to do so. (R. p. 89.) Appellants also state in their Petition for Rehearing that their recommendation is that (1) solar be used as a fuel substitute when available in order to offset the operating costs of the gas plant which mainly come from fuel⁴ and (2) Duke Energy be required to issue a RFP for solar capacity that, as delivered, would displace production at the gas plant and reduce fuel burned there. (R. p.97-98.) Appellants' Petition further clarifies their position to state that customers should be "held harmless." (R. p. 98.)

⁴ Applicants' Brief, which ORS supports, states why this recommendation is inconsistent with the requirements of S.C. Code Section 58-27-865(F).

The position presented to the Commission during the hearing process does not reflect what Appellants now claim to be their position. An issue raised for the first time in a party's petition for rehearing to the Commission is not preserved for judicial review. See *Kiawah Property Owners Group v. Public Serv. Comm'n*, 359 S.C. 105, 113, 597 S.E.2d 145, 149 (2004). Here, Appellants' position that ratepayers are to be held harmless and the solar capacity is not to be in addition to the 750 MW is not plainly stated until its Petition for Rehearing.

The Appellants' failure to clearly state its position during the proceeding before the Commission is being couched in its Petition for Rehearing and Brief as a Commission misunderstanding of Appellants' position. It appears the Appellants are using the Petition for Rehearing and appellate process to re-characterize its arguments and position to get multiple bites at the apple.

When appellant's contentions are not presented or passed on by the trial judge, such contentions will not be considered on appeal. *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000) (citing *Roche v. S.C. Alcoholic Beverage Control Comm'n*, 263 S.C. 451, 454, 211 S.E.2d 243, 244 (1975)). This "prevents a party from keeping an ace card up his sleeve – intentionally or by chance – in the hope that an appellate court will accept that ace card and, via a reversal, give him another opportunity to prove his case." *Id.* Had Appellants' testimony plainly stated what Appellants now contend is their position – that is for ratepayers to be held harmless and that the solar capacity is not to be in addition to the 750 MW – then Commission Order No. 2014-408 and ORS testimony would have specifically addressed the concerns now being raised.⁵ It

⁵ "In *Irving v. Mazda Motor Corp.*, 136 F.3d 764 (11th Cir. 1998), [the court] expressed [its] concern that 'too often our colleagues on the district courts complain that the appellate cases about which they read were

is not the Commission's role to decode parties' positions or infer relief. Appellants should not be given another bite at the apple. Lastly, even if this Court agrees with Appellants that ORS and the Commission misunderstood Appellants' position, the Commission's decision to deny the solar recommendation is nevertheless supported by substantial evidence and should not be overturned.

B. The Commission appropriately considered the environmental impact pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 58-33-160(1)(b) and (c)

Appellants argue the Commission did not consider the environmental impact as required by S.C. Code Ann. § 58-33-160(1)(b) and (c) (1976). S.C. Code Ann. § 58-33-160(1) (1976) states:

(1) The Commission shall render a decision upon the record either granting or denying the application as filed, or granting it upon such terms, conditions or modifications of the construction, operation or maintenance of the major utility facility as the Commission may deem appropriate; such conditions shall be as determined by the applicable State agency having jurisdiction or authority under statutes, rules, regulations or standards promulgated thereunder, and the conditions shall become a part of the certificate. The Commission may not grant a certificate for the construction, operation and maintenance of a major utility facility, either as proposed or as modified by the Commission, unless it shall find and determine:

- (a) The basis of the need for the facility.
- (b) The nature of the probable environmental impact.
- (c) That the impact of the facility upon the environment is justified, considering the state of available

not the cases argued before them. We cannot allow Plaintiff to argue a different case from the case she presented to the district court.” *Access Now, Inc. v. Southwest Airlines Co.*, 385 F.3d 1324, 1331 (11th Cir. 2004).

technology and the nature and economics of the various alternatives and other pertinent considerations.

(d) That the facilities will serve the interests of system economy and reliability.

(e) That there is reasonable assurance that the proposed facility will conform to applicable State and local laws and regulations issued thereunder, including any allowable variance provisions therein, except that the Commission may refuse to apply any local law or local regulation if it finds that, as applied to the proposed facility, such law or regulation is unreasonably restrictive in view of the existing technology, or of factors of cost or economics or of the needs of consumers whether located inside or outside of the directly affected government subdivisions.

(f) That public convenience and necessity require the construction of the facility.

Appellants assert error in that the Commission summarized the favorable testimony of ORS and the Applicants, yet ignored conflicting testimony in the record showing that the Lee Unit would emit air pollutants and consume large amounts of water. (Brief p. 13.) ORS disagrees. As in *S.C. Energy Users Comm. v. S.C. Elec. & Gas*, 410 S.C. 348, 360, 764 S.E.2d 913, 919 (2014) the Commission parsed all of the evidence presented during the hearing and provided a detailed summary of all of the testimony on which it based its very technical findings. The Commission's Order addresses each finding required by S.C. Code Ann. § 58-33-160(1) and thoroughly discusses the environmental impact. (R. p. 12-18.) *See also* infra. p. 18 and footnote 6 of this Brief noting Applicants' Application is over five-hundred pages and includes numerous analyses related to water quality, air quality, cultural resources, aquatic life, botanical life and wildlife. Further, there is no Appellant testimony addressing water – concerns or otherwise. The Commission, however, inquired about water usage specifically in drought

conditions. (R. p. 290, lines 2-21.) Applicant witness Landseidel responded there is sufficient water flow from the Saluda River if there are drought conditions and with the retirement of two units currently using the water flow, the impact will be less than what it currently is. (R. p. 290, lines 5-14.)

The subject of pollutants was raised only in cross examination by the Appellants inquiring from Applicants' witness whether pollutants would be lower if the Lee Unit operated less. (R. p. 286, lines 1-18.) Appellants' testimony did not discuss pollutants, but discussed emissions in the context of a solar facility having lower emissions than the proposed plant. (R. p. 321, lines 24-26.) The Commission inquired about emissions. (R. p. 288, lines 11-14.) In response to Commission questioning, Landseidel testified there would be virtually no mercury emissions from the Lee Unit. (R. p. 288, lines 11-20.) Applicant witness Gillespy testified that the Lee Unit will add cost-effective, highly efficient natural gas generation to the company's system, adding to its flexibility and fuel diversity, and it will have state-of-the-art emission controls to reduce environmental impact on air and water. (R. p. 152, lines 1-5.) Gillespy further testified that because the Lee Project will be built at the existing Lee Steam Station, environmental impacts should be further reduced, as many existing resources necessary for construction are already in place. (R. p. 152, lines 5-9.)

ORS witness Soult testified as to each determination required by S.C. Code Ann. § 58-33-160(1). (R. p. 333, line 11- p.336, line 20.) With respect to the environmental impact, Soult testified, "The overall environmental impact of the changes to the Lee Steam Station, including the addition of the LCCP, is expected to be positive." (R. p. 335, lines 3-5.) With respect to the public convenience and necessity, Mr. Soult

concluded, “ORS’s review of the information provided in the Joint Application indicates that the Company intends to build an efficient and reliable plant that will be economical and minimize the environmental impact, while strengthening the reliability of electric generation and the transmission grid.” (R. p. 336, lines 15-20.)

The Supreme Court will not set aside an order of the Commission unless it is found by a convincing showing to be unsupported by evidence or to embody arbitrary or capricious action as a matter of law. *See S.C. Cable Television Ass’n v. Southern Bell Tel. & Tel. Co.*, 308 S.C. 216, 219, 417 S.E.2d 586, 588 (1992). The substantial evidence rule means that a court will not overturn a finding of fact by an administrative agency unless there is no reasonable probability that the facts could be as related by a witness upon whose testimony the finding was based. *See Nucor Steel v. S.C. Pub. Serv. Comm’n*, 310 S.C. 539, 545, 426 S.E.2d 319, 322 (1992). The Commission did not ignore conflicting testimony, its order is based on substantial evidence, and there is no error.

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